72635-8

#### NO. 72635-8-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JOHN M. KALAHAR and PEGGY L. KALAHAR, husband and wife,

Appellants,

٧.

ALCOA, INC.,

Respondent.

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

Matthew P. Bergman, WSBA #20894 Kaitlin T. Wright, WSBA #45241 BERGMAN DRAPER LANDENBURG HART, PLLC 614 First Avenue, Fourth Floor Seattle, Washington 98104 Tel. (206) 957-9510 Attorneys for Appellants

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

John Kalahar is dying from mesothelioma, a fatal cancer caused by asbestos exposure. John and Peggy Kalahar sued Alcoa, Inc., claiming Mr. Kalahar's illness was caused by asbestos exposure sustained at Alcoa's Wenatchee plant where he worked from 1963 to 1971. Mr. Kalahar alleged that, by intentionally exposing him to asbestos and knowingly misrepresenting its carcinogenic effect, Alcoa fell under the deliberate injury exception to workers' compensation exclusivity set forth in RCW 51.24.020.

Alcoa obtained summary judgment on the ground that RCW 51.24.020 precludes claims for chronic occupational diseases such as mesothelioma that do not immediately manifest at the time of exposure. As discussed below, the Superior Court's holding contravenes the plain language of the statute by prohibiting a diseased worker from *ever* bringing an intentional injury claim, no matter how egregious the employer's conduct. Mr. Kalahar's immediate, visible symptoms from asbestos exposure sustained at Alcoa satisfied the Supreme Court's recent holding in *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, \_\_\_ Wn. 2d. \_\_\_, 334 P.3d 519 ( 2014), and Alcoa's knowing misrepresentation of asbestos toxicity exhibited

actual and willful disregard under *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn. 2d 853, 866, 904 P. 2d 278, 286 (1995). Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Superior Court's summary judgment and remand for trial.

#### II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Superior Court erred in entering its order dated October 24, 2014, which granted summary judgment to Alcoa, Inc. The Court should answer two questions pertaining to this error:

- 1. Does RCW 51.24.020 bar all claims for chronic occupational diseases that do not manifest at the time of the worker's injurious exposure, no matter how egregious the employer's conduct in causing the plaintiff to be exposed?
- 2. Did the Kalahars present evidence from which a jury could conclude that Alcoa willfully disregarded actual knowledge of certain injury in satisfaction of *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn. 2d 853, 866, 904 P. 2d 278, 286 (1995)?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Procedural History.

John Kalahar and his wife, Peggy Kalahar, filed a Complaint for Personal Injuries against Alcoa and seven other defendants on March 21, 2014, claiming that Mr. Kalahar's mesothelioma was caused by asbestos exposure sustained during his employment at Alcoa Wenatchee between

1963 and 1971. The Kalahars alleged that Alcoa inflicted an intentional injury under RCW 51.24.020 by knowingly exposing Mr. Kalahar to asbestos and willfully misrepresenting the toxic properties of asbestos to John Kalahar and his coworkers. On September 25, 2014, Alcoa moved for summary judgment, which Plaintiffs vigorously opposed. CP 1-25. On October 24, 2014, after oral argument, the Superior Court issued an order granting Alcoa's motion for summary judgment. CP 1138-39. In an oral ruling, the Superior Court explained that, because Mr. Kalahar's mesothelioma manifested decades after his employment at Alcoa, recovery was precluded under the Supreme Court's recent holding in Walston v. Boeing Co., 334 P.3d 519:

So we know that Mr. Kalahar was exposed to asbestos at Alcoa during the time period 1963 to 1970. And I would say at the time he was exposed, that Alcoa knew that more than likely that exposure to asbestos could cause mesothelioma. I would say that they knew the risk...

[A]ccording to Walston, the plaintiffs have to, in order to have an exception to the workers' comp remedy, show deliberate intention. And it is a high standard that is met in Washington only when an employer had actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur. Mr. [] Kalahar wasn't diagnosed until 40 years after he left Alcoa. And that's when he and everyone else knew that he had this disease... [T]his Court is obligated to follow the Supreme Court, whether it thinks it's the right decision or not. I don't see how this Court could find otherwise that Alcoa was not certain that injury was going to occur to Mr. Kalahar back in 1963 to 1971.

RP 35-36. The Kalahars timely appealed the grant of summary judgment in Alcoa's favor. CP 1136-37. On November 13, 2014, Appellants filed a Motion to Expedite Review, in regards to which the Court ruled that the current appeal "will be set for consideration on the next available calendar" upon completion of briefing. *See* Notation Ruling of Richard D. Johnson, Court Administrator/Clerk of the Court, dated November 18, 2014.

## B. Factual Background.

1. John Kalahar was Exposed to Asbestos at Alcoa for Eight Years Without Any Warnings or Respiratory Protection.

John Kalahar's only identified exposure to asbestos occurred during his employment at the Alcoa Wenatchee aluminum plant from 1963 to 1971. CP 590-591. Internal Alcoa documents identify 82 different asbestoscontaining products used throughout the Wenatchee facility, including in the pot rooms, brick masons' shop, and ingot plant. CP 593-94. Mr. Kalahar was exposed to asbestos in each of these locations.

The first area of the plant where Mr. Kalahar worked was in the potrooms. CP 624. Aluminum is produced in hundreds of smelting pots in which alumina bath is converted to molten aluminum with high voltage electricity. According to industrial hygienist Carl Mangold, who worked in the Alcoa Wenatchee laboratory in the 1950s and 1960s, each pot contained over 900 pounds of asbestos insulation. CP 611.

Mr. Kalahar testified that whenever a pot failed, it would have to be "dug out" with jackhammers, and he was frequently in close proximity to this work. CP 624-25. He testified that potlining was going on "[e]very day in more than likely every room. There [] were always pots being repaired." *Id.* Mr. Kalahar again worked in the potrooms as an equipment operator in 1966 for approximately one year, during which time he spent approximately 80 percent of his time in the potrooms cleaning up after potlining operations. CP 630. Mr. Kalahar testified as to how he would pick up debris from potlining operations when working as an equipment operator in the potrooms:

- Q: What role, if any, did you have in conjunction with the pot lining during the time you were operating a front-end loader in the potrooms?
- A: Just to clean up any material that was left on the floor, any materials, dust, or stuff like that that anything that was in the backside of the potrooms that needed to be picked up, moved or, you know, put into dumpster buckets. That's what I would do...So sometimes [] almost every room for the—the final cleanup I'd have to get off my machine and sweep up the residue that was left, usually the finer particulates, and sweep them or shovel them into my front-end loader and then dispose of them.

CP 631.

In 1945, Mr. Kalahar worked around Marinite in the "machine shop" as a utility laborer in 1964 and as a sheetmetal apprentice from 1967 to 1971. CP 625-26, 628-30, 632. As a utility laborer, Mr. Kalahar would sweep up

after the machinists and clean their machines. CP 628. As a sheetmetal apprentice, Mr. Kalahar worked within a few feet of machinists doing work on the molds used to form aluminum ingots, which were constructed with Marinite asbestos fiberboard. CP 509. He testified:

[W]e were right next to the machinists that were working on molds. . . [T]here's really no line of demarcation. We just hooked right up next to each other. And they were putting the molds together, taking out the old Marinite facings and putting in new ones. And, you know, —they cut them across the way at the other place, but they put them together and tore apart the old ones that were either burnt up or plugged and would cut them, sand them, finish them, and put them back together.

CP 634. Mr. Kalahar testified that he worked "within a couple feet" of machinists working on molds and described machinists disassembling and blowing Marinite dust off old molds with compressed air. CP 627, 634-35.

John Cox worked with Marinite molds in the machine shop during the years of Mr. Kalahar's employment there. CP 599-600. Mr. Cox testified that he "tore them apart, chipped the old asbestos off, scraped them off and wire brushed them and then blew all of the material that was left," including dust, with an air hose. CP 602. When building the Marinite molds, he would smooth the Marinite with sandpaper and blow off the dust with an air hose. Id. Mr. Cox described that when Marinite was cut or sanded, a fine powdery dust was generated that "flew all over the shop." CP 603. He testified that there was no ventilation on the saws he used in the machine shop or any

other equipment to control dust while milling Marinite prior to 1971. *Id.*Mr. Cox testified that Mr. Kalahar "worked right across the aisleway" when this work was performed. CP 600.

After aluminum is produced in smelting pots, the molten metal is siphoned into crucibles and transported to the furnaces where it is heated and poured into ingot molds. CP 641. These crucibles are lined with refractory brick and insulated with asbestos "shorts" or "feathers." Id. CP 635. Mr. Kalahar's work frequently brought him in contact with brick masons performing crucible and trough relining work both in and outside the brick masons' shop. CP 635. He testified that crucibles would be jackhammered out and that asbestos "feathers" were used in creating the new lining, being dumped in a mixer with a serrated edge, which caused "a lot" of feathers to disperse into the air. Id. Mr. Kalahar testified that he visited the brick shop on breaks and at lunch, as he knew many masons and also would cut through the brick shop when travelling to other areas of the plant. CP 635. Alcoa internal memoranda confirm that crucible and trough liner repair work at its facilities involved the use of asbestos "shorts" or fiber, dry-mixed with cement in a process that would create a "fair amount of dust" during tear-out operations. CP 578, 580.

As a sheetmetal apprentice, Mr. Kalahar's job duties included constructing "pot shields." Fabricating pot shields required Mr. Kalahar to

cut amosite asbestos cloth to install for insulation on the interior of the shield, using industrial scissors or shears to cut the cloth. CP 633-34. This process created dust, which Mr. Kalahar testified he would blow off of his clothing afterward with compressed air. *Id*.

Plaintiffs' expert industrial hygienist, Susan Raterman, and materials expert, Dr. William Longo, offered expert opinion testimony regarding the asbestos exposures John Kalahar sustained at the Alcoa Wenatchee plant. Ms. Raterman performed a physical inspection of the Alcoa plant and specifically evaluated Mr. Kalahar's exposures at Alcoa and "related them to quantified exposure concentrations that were available in the Alcoa data or that are available in the articles and work simulation studies." CP 697. She concluded that, while working in the pot rooms, Mr. Kalahar sustained exposure "hundreds of thousands of times above background." CP 698-99. Similarly, Ms. Raterman characterized Mr. Kalahar's exposures incident to Marinite work as exceeding the 5 mppcf threshold limit whenever he was near the cutting, sawing, or sanding of Marinite. CP 701. By way of comparison, the 5 mppcf limit applicable in 1968 is approximately 100 times greater than the current OSHA standard. See 29 C.F.R. § 1910.1001(c) (setting permissible exposure limit of 0.1 fiber per cubic centimeter of air over an eight-hour time-weighted average).

Dr. Longo also testified that Mr. Kalahar would have been exposed to dust concentrations exceeding 5 mppcf while working in the potrooms in the vicinity of potliners jackhammering, digging, and shoveling pot insulation, which included block thermal insulation. CP 705-06. Dr. Longo further opined on Mr. Kalahar's exposures while working in the machine shop in the vicinity of Marinite mold work as involving exposures "in the 100 to 200 fiber per cc range." CP 706. Dr. Longo also opined that Mr. Kalahar's exposures while sweeping up Marinite dust would have exceeded the 10 fiber per cc range while he was working as a laborer. CP 706-07. Regarding Mr. Kalahar's bystander exposures through furnace relining work performed in the ingot plant, Dr. Longo explained, "using jackhammers to remove block and thermal insulation probably generates, in my opinion, some of the highest fiber levels that you will see." CP 706.

Despite his excessive exposure to asbestos, Mr. Kalahar testified that at no time during the eight years he worked at Alcoa was he ever informed that asbestos was harmful or provided with any respiratory equipment to protect him from injurious exposures. E.g., CP 636-37. Mr. Kalahar never heard of the Wenatchee Works "Industrial Hygiene Committee" and never observed anyone wearing respiratory protection during potlining, furnace lining, sawing or sanding of Marinite in the machine shop, digging of troughs and crucibles, or mixing asbestos "feathers" in the brick masons' shop. CP

625-26, 628, 630, 635, 637. He never received warnings or respiratory protection when he personally cut amosite asbestos cloth and blew amosite dust off of his clothing with compressed air. CP 634. Mr. Kalahar testified that he never saw an exhaust hood being installed on the saw used to cut Marinite in the machine shop. CP 629. Mr. Kalahar testified that he never observed air sampling or ventilation in conjunction with Marinite sawing in the machine shop. CP 629-30.

Mr. Kalahar's coworker John Cox testified that, prior to 1971, he was never provided with a respirator or advised to wear a mask while working with asbestos products such as Marinite. CP 604. Dave Dorey, another coworker, similarly testified that he was never advised to wear respiratory protection while working as a brick mason, removing insulation from furnaces. CP 642. Mr. Dorey testified that there were no protocols in place to require the use of respiratory protection during the removal of asbestos insulation in the ingot plant. *Id.* Equally, Mr. Dorey testified that Alcoa personnel did not advise him as to the risks associated with asbestos insulation removal work. *Id.* 

Alcoa's CR 30(b)(6) designee confirmed the utter lack of hazard communication and adequate protection of employees from asbestos exposure at the Wenatchee facility. CP 432-40. Alcoa's representative agreed that there is *no evidence* that Mr. Kalahar was ever told by Alcoa

that he was being exposed to asbestos, was ever warned that exposure to excessive levels of asbestos was potentially hazardous, or was ever advised to wear a respirator while working with asbestos or otherwise warned to avoid exposure to asbestos. CP 436. Similarly, he conceded the absence of any evidence that Alcoa attempted to educate Mr. Kalahar as to the asbestos toxicity problem or proper work techniques for controlling asbestos exposure, despite Alcoa's vast knowledge of both. CP 437.

# 2. Alcoa's Historic Knowledge of Asbestos Toxicity.

Alcoa's commanding knowledge of asbestos toxicity predated John Kalahar's employment with Alcoa by over 20 years. Alcoa was a founding member of two of the first industry organizations to address the health risks of occupational dust exposures: the Industrial Hygiene Foundation, established in 1936, and the National Safety Council, established in 1924. CP 420. As a member of these industry organizations, Alcoa received the *Industrial Hygiene Digest*, a compilation of abstracts of publications in the medical and scientific literature on workplace illnesses, and the *National Safety News*, a periodical addressing industrial safety issues, including articles on the disease of asbestosis as early as the 1930s. CP 435, 440.

Alcoa concedes that it knew as early as the 1940s that asbestos was a toxic substance that could cause disease, including deadly and progressive lung diseases that could render a worker a "respiratory cripple." CP 447-48, 452, 455-57, 466, 478, 486-88. By the 1950s, Alcoa knew of the connection between asbestos exposure and lung cancer, and by the 1960s understood the relationship between asbestos exposure and mesothelioma. CP 452-53, 466-67, 483, 489-94. Alcoa also understood the concept of the latency of asbestos-related disease—that symptoms of such diseases manifest many years after initial exposure. CP 452.

Alcoa had dust sampling capabilities and an understanding of the Threshold Limit Values ("TLVs") as early as 1948. CP 443-44, 472, 476. Alcoa's industrial hygienist, Thomas Bonney, acknowledged that the TLVs were established out of concern that exposures to toxins like asbestos in excess of certain levels posed a human health hazard, although they were *not* designed to be protective against cancer. CP 445, 458-59. In 1968, Mr. Bonney authored a chapter in the treatise INDUSTRIAL HYGIENE HIGHLIGHTS, edited by Alcoa's then-chief industrial hygienist, Lester Cralley, which specifically discussed the link between asbestos and mesothelioma. CP 450-51, 529-56.

Indeed, at the time John Kalahar worked around pot lining operations at the Wenatchee plant, Alcoa was fully aware of asbestos toxicity existing in

its aluminum plants. A 1965 "confidential" internal memorandum demonstrates that Alcoa had actual knowledge regarding disease resulting from asbestos used in potlining operations at its plants:

## Use of Asbestos in Potlining Operations:

The following comments are in response to a request for information on this subject by potlining personnel: Asbestosis, a disease resulting only from breathing asbestos dust, is now recognized as being a significant industrial exposure hazard. Even intermittent exposures to high concentrations, over long periods of time, can result in varying degrees of asbestosis according to individual susceptibility. There have been reports of an increased incidence of lung cancer in persons with asbestosis...

## CP 574 (emphasis supplied).

One year before John Kalahar began working at the Wenatchee plant, Alcoa learned of the injurious nature of the Marinite asbestos board it used throughout its facilities, as well as methods of controlling workers' exposures. In 1962, the Vernon, California Health Department inspected an Alcoa plant and made recommendations to Alcoa for minimizing exposures associated with sawing Marinite, including exhaust ventilation and use of respirators during cutting operations. CP 558-65. In response, Mr. Bonney related in an internal memorandum that, although asbestos dust levels from cutting Marinite exceeded the TLV, the decision to ventilate saws "cannot be made on the basis of its being a health hazard." CP 498-99. Instead, Mr.

Bonney advised that the TLVs be used "flexibly and sensibly" with the "possible objective...of being able to disprove alleged injury." CP 499.

Two years later, Alcoa corresponded with Johns-Manville, the manufacturer of Marinite, regarding the product's toxicity. Prompted by workers' complaints of "upper respiratory irritation" and skin irritation when sawing and machining Marinite, Alcoa wrote to Johns-Manville to inquire whether epoxy resin contained in the product might be the cause of these symptoms. CP 517. Johns-Manville confirmed the sole health hazard posed by use of Marinite was asbestos, advising Mr. Bonney that "I would handle the material just as if it were asbestos fiber alone." CP 462, 519.

Equipped with this knowledge of certain injury, Mr. Bonney testified that workers using Marinite in the late 1960s should have been instructed of the hazard. CP 468. He acknowledged that "at least by 1965, if you observed a worker breathing visible dust without protection" while working with Marinite or otherwise engaged in asbestos operations, it would be a "cause of concern" as "either unsafe or potentially hazardous." CP 469. Nonetheless, Alcoa was still cutting and sawing asbestos-containing Marinite products in its plants as of 1984! CP 469, 524-27.

In contrast to Mr. Kalahar and his coworkers, the Alcoa Wenatchee supervisors demonstrated a commanding knowledge of asbestos toxicity, yet kept such knowledge secreted from plant employees. In 1952, an Industrial

Hygiene (IH) Committee was formed at the new Wenatchee Works plant, opened that same year. CP 742. Documentation of the IH surveys conducted under the auspices of the Wenatchee Works IH Committee begin in 1961. CP 756-58. The survey reports are uniformly marked "confidential" and report conditions in various areas of the plant. CP 756, 759, 761, 764-65, 767, 770, 773, 776, 778, 780, 783, 786. As early as 1961, an IH survey notes that a workman in the potrooms was not wearing a mask and advises that air samples should be taken in the breathing zone of the workmen in the potrooms. CP 756.

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