No. 72635-8-I

In the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington **Division** I

JOHN M. KALAHAR AND PEGGY L. KALAHAR,

Appellants,

V.

ALCOA INC.,

Respondent.

Respondent's Brief

Mark B. Tuvim, WSBA No. 31909 Kevin J. Craig, WSBA No. 29932 GORDON & REES LLP 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98104 SEAAsbestos@gordonrees.com (206) 695-5100

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

IV. Argument

A. Walston controls the outcome of this appeal.

The outcome of this appeal is controlled by a recent Washington Supreme Court decision largely ignored in the Kalahars' brief: *Walston v. Boeing Co.* 181 Wn.2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014). In *Walston*, the Washington Supreme Court reiterated that, as a matter of law, an employer's knowledge that asbestos exposure to its employees can cause mesothelioma does not establish a "deliberate" injury under the

Washington Industrial Insurance Act's ("WIIA") intentional injury exception. The reason is that "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma" and thus the employer cannot have "actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur." 181 Wn.2d at 397 (emphasis in original) (applying Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) and Birklid v. Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995)). Walston's reasoning and holding require that the trial court's decision be affirmed.

1. Per Walston, exposing a worker to asbestos is not certain to cause disease.

As in this case, the plaintiff in *Walston* sued his employer seeking to recover damages after contracting mesothelioma. 181 Wn.2d at 394-95. Mr. Walston attempted to avoid the immunity provided to employers under Washington's workers' compensation system by alleging that his employer. Boeing, deliberately injured him. *Id.* Under the WIIA, an employer deliberately injures an employee, and loses its immunity, if the employer has actual knowledge that an injury is certain to occur and willfully disregards that knowledge. *Id.* at 396. The trial court denied summary judgment to Boeing, this Court reversed and remanded for rendition of an order granting summary judgment, and the Supreme Court affirmed this Court's judgment. *Id.* at 395.

Mr. Walston's claim against Boeing was based on his exposure to asbestos in 1985. By 1985, Boeing knew asbestos was a hazardous material. *Id.* In fact, Boeing knew of several prior claims based on asbestos exposure at the same facilities, including a co-worker who had developed cancer after working in the same shop with Mr. Walston. *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, 173 Wn. App. 271, 276, 294 P.3d 759 (2013). Yet Boeing nevertheless ordered the plaintiff to "go back to work," without protective gear, directly underneath where other workers, who were wearing "moon suits" and ventilators, were rewrapping overhead pipes to encapsulate flaking asbestos insulation, thereby creating dust and debris that fell into plaintiff's work area. *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 394.

The plaintiff produced testimony from his medical experts that plaintiff's exposure at Boeing caused his mesothelioma. Dr. Arnold Brody opined that asbestos exposure creates an immediate injury at the cellular level, but another of the plaintiff's experts – Dr. Andrew Churg – conceded that "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease." *Id.* at 394, 398.

As *Walston* reiterated, the "deliberate intention" requirement is "a high standard that is met in Washington only when an employer had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur." *Id.* at 396 (citing *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 864-65). Substantial certainty or gross negligence is not

sufficient to satisfy this standard. *Id.* at 396-97 (citing *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 863-65).³ Further, the deliberate-intention standard is not satisfied by disregarding a *risk* of injury or showing that the employer knew that "someone, not necessarily the plaintiff" was certain to be injured. *Id.* at 397 (citing *Vallandigham*, 154 Wn.2d at 21, 28, 36; *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 863-65).

Applying these principles, the Supreme Court held as a matter of law that because "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma," an employer cannot have "actual knowledge that [the plaintiff's mesothelioma] was certain to occur":

The holdings from *Birklid* and *Vallandigham* are binding on this case. As the experts in this case acknowledge, asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease. It does cause a *risk* of disease, but as we have previously held, that is insufficient to meet the *Birklid* standard. Walston has not raised an issue of material fact as to whether Boeing had *actual knowledge* that injury was *certain to occur*. And to the extent that Walston argues that the deliberate intention standard is satisfied as long as the employer knows that *someone*, not necessarily the plaintiff, is certain to be injured, this court already rejected that argument in *Birklid*. Therefore, the Court of Appeals properly remanded for entry of an order granting summary judgment to Boeing.

³ "Neither gross negligence nor failure to observe safety procedures and laws governing safety constitutes a specific intent to injure." *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 860; *Anica v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 120 Wn. App. 481, 494, 84 P.3d 1231, 1239 (2004) ("Mere negligence, gross negligence, failure to follow safety procedures, and even an act that has a substantial certainty of producing injury does not rise to the level of deliberate intention.") (citing *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 664, 958 P.2d 301, 305 (1998)).

Id. at 397 (emphasis in original); *see also Shellenbarger v. Longview Fibre Co.*, 125 Wn. App. 41, 45, 49, 103 P.3d 807 (2004) ("We know now that asbestos exposure does not result in injury to every person, and the evidence does not suggest Longview Fibre believed otherwise 30 years ago.").

The Supreme Court further rejected the plaintiff's argument that manifesting a different type of injury or symptom at the time of exposure was sufficient because it would be inconsistent with the standard developed in *Birklid* and *Vallandigham* requiring "certainty" that the plaintiff would later develop mesothelioma:

Under *Birklid*, a risk of injury is insufficient to meet the deliberate intention standard. The asymptomatic cellular-level injury here is not itself a compensable injury. *See*, *e.g.*, *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Landon*, 117 Wn.2d 122, 125-28, 814 P.2d 626 (1991) (holding that a disease does not occur on exposure; it occurs when it manifests itself). Instead. as Walston's experts acknowledge, the asymptomatic cellular-level injury resulting from the exposure to asbestos created a risk of compensable injury. Thus, even if Boeing had actual knowledge that exposure to asbestos would cause asymptomatic cellular-level injury, the *Birklid* deliberate intention standard would not be met.

Walston, 181 Wn.2d at 398.

Accordingly, Boeing was entitled to summary judgment in *Walston* as a matter of law because its act of intentionally exposing the plaintiff to asbestos that Boeing knew was hazardous was not certain to cause him to

contract mesothelioma. *Id.* at 398-99.

2. The Washington Supreme Court's reasoning and holding in *Walston* require affirmance.

Just as in *Walston*, the Kalahars have not raised an issue of material fact here whether Alcoa "had *actual knowledge* that injury was *certain to occur.*" *Walston*. 181 Wn.2d at 397 (emphasis in original). Again, as the Kalahars' own experts concede, it is a scientifically-established fact that asbestos exposure "is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease." *Id.* And the fact that asbestos exposure poses a *risk* of disease is not sufficient to satisfy *Birklid*'s second prong. *Id.* Thus, even if, as the Kalahars contend. Alcoa exposed Mr. Kalahar to asbestos knowing that doing so posed a risk that he would contract mesothelioma, that is not sufficient to trigger the deliberate-injury exception.

The crux of the Supreme Court's holding in *Walston* was that even in 1985 – 14 years *after* Mr. Kalahar last worked at Alcoa – Boeing still could not *know* that the plaintiff's mesothelioma was *certain* to occur because asbestos exposure is never certain to cause mesothelioma. The court in *Walston* specifically stated that "[a]s the experts in this case acknowledge, asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease" and that the "*risk* of disease" that it does cause mesothelioma "is insufficient to meet the *Birklid* standard." *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 397.

Here, the Kalahars (who are represented by the same plaintiffs' attorneys as Mr. Walston) have used the same plaintiff's medical experts as Mr. Walston. And those experts have provided the same testimony that was considered by the Supreme Court in *Walston* in concluding that "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease." *Id.* at 394, 398 (citing testimony of plaintiffs' experts Dr. Andrew Churg and Dr. Arnold Brody). As in *Walston*, Dr. Churg admitted in this case as well that asbestos exposure, at any level, is never certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease:

- [Q.] My question was, is there a level of exposure to asbestos that will definitely cause a mesothelioma to develop in an individual exposed to that asbestos?
- A. No.

* * *

- Q. Is there some generally accepted source of medical knowledge that regards exposure to asbestos as certain to cause injury, that you're aware of?
- A. Not that I know of, no. For my money, that's an unprovable proposition. . . .

CP 211, 214-215; see CP 212-213, 216-217.

In fact, the Kalahars' medical experts conceded that the overwhelming majority of people who are exposed to asbestos, even those at the highest recorded occupational exposure levels, will never develop

mesothelioma. CP 211-217, 223-230, 237-239. Because the Kalahars' own medical experts concede that asbestos exposure at any level is never certain to cause mesothelioma and that the contrary is "an unworkable proposition," it is a factual and legal impossibility that Alcoa had "actual knowledge" before 1971 that Mr. Kalahar's exposure to asbestos was "certain to cause" his mesothelioma four decades later. *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 397; CP 211, 214-215. Accordingly, *Walston* has already decided the controlling issue here and established the applicable rule: as a matter of law, the Kalahars cannot prove Alcoa knew his mesothelioma was certain to occur.

3. Walston rejected the Kalahars' argument that evidence of another injury at the time of exposure creates actual knowledge that mesothelioma was certain to occur.

None of the arguments raised by the Kalahars change the outcome of this case under *Walston*'s unequivocal holding that asbestos exposure is never certain to cause mesothelioma. Still, in an effort to distinguish this case from *Walston*, the Kalahars point to the Supreme Court's comment that "[s]ince immediate and visible injury was not present in this case, Mr. Walston could not use that to show that Boeing had knowledge of certain injury." *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 397-98.

In a prior case decided by the Supreme Court – *Birklid v. Boeing*Co. – employees suing for injury caused by toxic chemicals were able to

raise a fact question on deliberate intent by producing evidence that they suffered immediate and visible injuries (injuries, not symptoms). *Id.* But the immediate, visible injuries in *Birklid* were dermatitis, rashes, nausea, headaches, dizziness, and workers passing out on the job – the same injuries the workers were seeking compensation for. Also, the Boeing supervisor knew these injuries were reactions to working with the toxic substance. *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 856, 863.

The Kalahars contend that Mr. Kalahar sustained immediate and visible effects (not injuries) in the form of (i) an itchy, fuzzy sensation on his face, and (ii) sneezing and blowing his nose. Br. at 17-18. Neither an itchy, fuzzy sensation on Mr. Kalahar's face nor sneezing and blowing his nose may be considered a "visible injury." Nor is there is anything in the record on appeal that those are symptoms of any asbestos-related disease, or that any Alcoa supervisor knew Mr. Kalahar's alleged sneezing and other effects were reactions to asbestos exposure, much less symptoms of an asbestos-related disease.

Finally, the court in *Walston* rejected the Kalahars' argument that it is enough to show that the plaintiff suffered some injury (the cellular injury in *Walston*, Mr. Kalahar's alleged sneezing and irritated skin here), even though it was a different injury than the mesothelioma they base their claims on. *Walston* explains that developing a different type of injury or

symptom at the time of exposure does not create "certainty" that the plaintiff would later develop mesothelioma. 181 Wn.2d at 398.

The court in *Walston* further observed that the alleged "cellular-level injury here is not itself a compensable injury" because a compensable injury under the WIIA arises only when the disease manifests, not when exposure occurred. *Id.* (citing *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Landon*, 117 Wn.2d 122, 125-28, 814 P.2d 626 (1991)). This is consistent with the plain statutory language that the deliberate injury exception applies only "[i]f injury results to a worker from the deliberate intention of his or her employer to produce *such* injury." RCW 51.24.020 (emphasis added). In other words, the exception only applies if the employee suffers the same injury that the employer intended to cause.

Here, the only injury alleged in the Complaint is Mr. Kalahar's mesothelioma, which he concedes was not diagnosed until 2014. CP 141, 336. Mr. Kalahar therefore did not have a compensable injury until 2014. See Walston, 181 Wn.2d at 398; Landon, 117 Wn.2d at 128. As the Washington Supreme Court has held, an asbestos-related occupational disease becomes a compensable injury under the WIIA "as of the date the worker's disease manifested itself, not the date of the worker's last exposure to the harmful materials." Landon, 117 Wn.2d at 123-25 (holding that asbestos-related disease becomes compensable when

diagnosed, not the date of last exposure and quoting Judge Learned Hand that "a disease is no disease until it manifests itself").⁴ And to the extent that the Kalahars now claim that the sneezing and itching are compensable injuries under the WIIA, Mr. Kalahar has conceded that he never sought medical treatment for them, never filed a grievance or lawsuit against Alcoa about them, never pursued a workers compensation claim for them, and the statute of limitations on any such lawsuit or claim has long-since run. CP 1130-1132.

Just as the court in *Walston* rejected the plaintiff's argument that the employer's knowledge that asbestos exposure was causing cellular injury was sufficient to establish "certainty" about Mr. Walston's mesothelioma, any knowledge that Alcoa may have had that Mr. Kalahar was sneezing or had irritated skin, even if related to asbestos exposure, does not create the required "certainty" under the deliberate intention standard that his mesothelioma would occur. *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 398.

4. Walston already rejected the Kalahars' "substantial certainty" argument.

While the Kalahars spend page after page arguing that Alcoa knew

⁴ This accords with the chapter establishing the right to compensation, which specifically provides that the date of the disease for determining compensation is *not the date of contraction*, but rather the date when the disease requires medical treatment or becomes disabling. RCW 51.32.180(b)(2) ("[F]or claims filed on or after July 1, 1988, the rate of compensation for occupational diseases shall be established as of the date the disease requires medical treatment or becomes totally or partially disabling, whichever occurs first, and *without regard to the date of the contraction of the disease* or the date of filing the claim.") (emphasis added).

asbestos was dangerous and that exposure could potentially cause an injury to Mr. Kalahar, their arguments amount to nothing more than a rehash of the "substantial certainty" argument that the Supreme Court rejected in both *Walston* and *Birklid*:

Before adopting [Birklid's] narrow test, we reviewed broader tests from other jurisdictions and rejected them. In particular, we considered a test that defined deliberate intention to include situations in which the injury is "substantially certain to occur." We rejected that test and instead adopted a narrower test for Washington. Thus, "deliberate intention" is a high standard that is met in Washington only when an employer had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur. An act that has substantial certainty of producing injury is insufficient to meet that standard. Similarly, negligence — even gross negligence — is not sufficient to meet the "deliberate intention" standard.

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